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1. LICENSEEILOCATION INSPECTED: 2. NRCIREGIONAL OFFICE 

IBA Molecular North America. Inc. 
8614 NW 1071

h Terrace U.S. Nuclear Rog.ulatory Commission 
Region I, 2100 Renaissance Blvd, Suite 100 
King of Prussia, Pennsylvania 19406-2713 

Kansas City, Missouri 

REPORT NUMBER(S) 2015-001 
3. DOCKET NUMSER(S) 

030-32974 
4. LICENSE NUMBER(S) 

45-25221-01 MO 
$. OATE(S) OF INSPECTION 

March 26, 2015 

LICENSEE: 

The ln$pG<:tlon w.ss an e1111mination of the GCliVtlies conducted under your license as they relate to radiation safety and to compliance with tho Nudear 
Regulatory Con-mission (NRC) rules and regulalions and the conditions of your hcense. The inspection conslstod or selective ellllmmalion::i of 
procedures and reprosen13tive records. inteNl!i)W$ with personnel, and obse"13tlons by the inspector. The inspection findings are as follows: 

D 
D 
IBJ 

1. Based oo the insp&Ction findings. no violations were iClentmoo. 

2. Previous violaition(s) closed. 

3. Tho violation(s). specifically doscnbed to you by ttte inspector as non-cited violations, are not being cited b&eat.1se they were sE>lf· 
idenhfied, non·ropotitive. and corrective action was or is being taken. and the remaining cr1w1oi In tho NRC Enforcement Policy, to 
oxorcise discretion, werG $atisf1ed. 

1 
Non-cited violatlon(s) were discussed involving the following requiremenl(s) and corrective actlon(s): 

Contrairy to Licon&e Condition No. 19 and item 1.c. of section 8.10.8 of the application da!od Juno 28, 2013, the licensee 
failed to perform llnoarlty tests on two Close c:.allbratons between Octol)er 15, 2014, and March i6, 2015, a period 
exceeding three months. This violation was idcmtiritd by tho licensee's corporate auditor. The root cauu was that the 
acting site RSO beUovod the test was required evory six months instead or every three months. As corrective action, the 
licensee Immediately performed the roquired linearity testing. In addition, the acting site RSO set up reminders on his 
phone so that future linearity tests would be performed timely. 

4. During this inspection. cenaln of your acllvities, as descnbod below and/or 3ttached, were in 11iolatlon of NRC requiromonts and are being 
cited 1n accordance w!lh the NRC enforcement Policy. This form is a NOTICE OF VIOLATION. which may be subject to postin9 in 
3ccortlance With 10 CFR 19.11. (Viotation& and Corrective Action:;} 

Statement of Corrective Actions 
I hereby state thal. within 30 dey:>, the actions described by me to the tnspoctor will be taken to correct the violations ldontlftod. This st:Jtemenl of 
corrective actions is made 1n acc.ordanoe with tho roQuircments of 10 CFR 2.201 (corrective steps already taken. cotreclive'staps Which wUI be tal<en. 
date ~on full compfiance will be achieved). I undet'StanCI that no further written response to NRC Wiii bo required, unless speeifteal!y requested. 

Title Printed Name Signature Oatt 

L1ceNsEes Re:PRr:sENTATrvE , David w. Pellicciarini ~lJ. B 4/15/15 

NRC INSPECTOR eoffrey Warren I Dennis O'Dowd 

BRANCH CHIEF 
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